RECEIVED

Jul 15 2022

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Walton J. McLeod, Circuit Judge

Appellate Case No. 2020-001673

Elisa Montgomery Edwards and Emily Cecile Edwards,.....Respondents,

v.

David C. Bryan, III,.....Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Andrew S. Radeker
S.C. Bar No. 73743
Harrison, Radeker & Smith, P.A.
Post Office Box 50143
Columbia, South Carolina 29250
(803) 779-2211
drew@harrisonfirm.com
Attorney for Appellant

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- I. **Did the lower court err in failing to grant a directed verdict and then judgment notwithstanding the verdict where the Respondents failed to adduce evidence of all nine elements of fraud, including a lack of evidence of damages proximately caused by reliance on any misrepresentation?**
- II. **Did the lower court err in failing to grant Appellant's motion for a new trial where the record is susceptible only of a reading that the jury gave Respondents a verdict only on a theory or theories they expressly were not pursuing or which had been dismissed with prejudice?**
- III. **Did the lower court err in failing to grant Appellant's motion for a new trial *nisi remittitur* where the record is susceptible only of a reading that the jury gave Respondents a verdict for damages that could only flow from acts for which Respondents expressly were not suing Appellant?**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from the denial of the motion of the Appellant, David C. Bryan, III (hereinafter “David”) for judgment notwithstanding the verdict or a new trial, absolute or *nisi remittitur*, following a jury verdict of \$600,000.00 for the Respondents, Elisa Montgomery Edwards (hereinafter “Elisa”) and Emily Cecile Edwards (hereinafter “Emily”), on the sole claim submitted to the jury, fraud. (R. pp. 1-8, 39-51.)

David C. Bryan, Jr. (hereinafter “Testator”) died on January 9, 2009, and left a will. (R. p. 13, p. 93 ln. 6-10, pp. 314-20.) Testator’s son, David, served as personal representative of Testator’s estate, the Testator’s will was probated, and the estate was closed. (R. pp. 14-15, 29-31, p. 94 ln. 24 through p. 95 ln. 23, pp. 314-20.) Testator’s will created a trust, of which Testator’s granddaughter Elisa and her daughter (Testator’s great-granddaughter Emily) were two of several beneficiaries. (R. pp. 314-20.) The trust provided for the benefit of Testator’s wife for her lifetime, then for distribution of the remaining trust assets to the other beneficiaries. (R. pp. 314-20.) The will gave David complete discretion with regard to what assets, if any, would go into the trust. (R. pp. 314-20.) Other than some specific devises not at issue here, the share of the Testator’s estate that David chose not to place into the trust were devised to David. (R. pp. 314-20.) Testator’s wife died on October 22, 2009. (R. p. 97 ln. 22-24.) In September of 2010, David filed a final accounting in the probate court that listed a disbursement of \$468,587.06 “to trust[.]” (R. pp. 321-22.) The probate court closed the estate by order dated November 9, 2011. (R. p. 36.)

No challenge was brought to any aspect of the estate administration by anyone, including Elisa and Emily. (R. p. 95 ln. 18-23.) Instead, over six years after the estate was closed, Elisa and Emily filed this action against David, suing him for fraud, negligent misrepresentation, conversion,

and negligence *per se* (for violation of duties under the probate code as personal representative). (R. pp. 12-28).

Elisa and Emily's fraud and negligent misrepresentation claims were based on David having "misrepresented or failed to disclose to [Elisa and Emily] as required the true facts about the distribution of the Estate of [Testator]" and that he made false "representations as to the status and disbursements from that Estate and the Trust[.]" (R. p. 16). The fraud claim alleged that Elisa and Emily "relied upon the truth of Defendant's representations or acted in reliance upon the nondisclosures in awaiting the distributions from the Estate and Trust" and that their reliance on those representations or nondisclosures proximately caused them damages. (R. p. 16).

The conversion claim alleged that David "exercised the right of ownership or dominion over money that rightfully should have been disbursed to" Elisa and Emily. (R. p. 18). Their negligence *per se* claim alleged that David violated his duties as personal representative of the estate and that Elisa and Emily "incurred damages as a proximate result of having their funds negligently withheld by" David. (R. p. 18).

David answered and included a motion for summary judgment in his answer, styling that motion as a counterclaim. (R. pp. 29-36). Elisa and Emily replied to David's pleading. (R. pp. 37-38).

Several months before trial, the circuit court granted summary judgment – with the agreement of Elisa and Emily – on the causes of action for conversion and negligence *per se*, dismissing those causes of action with prejudice. (R. pp. 9-11.) Elisa and Emily did not move for reconsideration of that order, nor did they appeal it.

On October 20, 2020, at the height of the COVID-19 pandemic, the case was tried to a jury, with precautionary pandemic-related measures such as wearing of masks by witnesses in

place. (R. pp. 1-8, 39-51, 52-311.) After the close of the plaintiffs' case, Elisa and Emily elected to drop their negligent misrepresentation claim and proceed solely on their claim for fraud. (R. p. 227 ln. 19-20, p. 228 ln. 5-9). David moved for a directed verdict on the one remaining cause of action, for fraud, stating that the plaintiffs had failed to adduce evidence of each element of fraud. (R. p. 230 ln. 17-23). The judge held the motion in abeyance. (R. p. 231 ln. 9-14). At the close of his own evidence, David renewed his motion for a directed verdict, which the judge denied. (R. p. 271 ln. 23 through p. 272 ln. 2.)

At numerous times throughout the trial, through Elisa's witness testimony and through statements of plaintiffs' counsel, Elisa and Emily stated that they were not suing David for anything he may have done or omitted as personal representative and that they were not suing about the way the Testator's estate was administered. (R. p. 110 ln. 23 through p. 111 ln. 6, p. 114 ln. 20-22, p. 115 ln. 3-6, p. 155 ln. 5-13). Elisa, on directed examination, testified as follows:

Q. Are you, in any way, in this case, challenging that transfer of property from David C. Bryan, as the personal representative, to himself?

A. No, I'm not.

(R. p. 115 ln. 3-6).

Elisa also testified that her reliance was on the accounting document David had submitted to the probate court as personal representative, and that document was what she was relying on in saying a fraud had been committed. (R. p. 148 ln. 4 through p. 149 ln. 2). She testified that she was damaged because she never received the money that she contended would have been distributed to her had David distributed money to the trust as he had represented to the probate court, and she calculated out for the jury her estimate of what that money would be worth as of the day of trial had she received and invested it. (R. p. 125 ln. 13 through p. 129 ln. 1.)

Emily's deposition testimony was read into the record, and she testified as follows:

Q. Tell me in your own words what this case is about.

A. So when my great-grandfather died, his estate was supposed to be divided. And my great-uncle didn't do that and just kind of took it all for himself.

(R. p. 254 ln. 13-18.)

The jury returned a verdict for Elisa and Emily for \$500,000.00 in actual damages and \$100,000.00 in punitive damages. (R. p. 8.)

David moved for judgment notwithstanding the verdict, for a new trial absolute, or for a new trial *nisi remittitur*. (R. pp. 39-51.) One of the bases for the motion is that the jury's verdict could have been based only on the theory of David's improper management of the estate, his failure as personal representative to distribute to and from the trust – in other words, that there was no evidence of damages proximately caused by some misrepresentation of David's. (R. pp. 39-51.) Elisa and Emily filed a memorandum in opposition to the motion. (R. pp. 412-15.) Elisa and Emily's memorandum stated the following:

Both Plaintiffs' witness and Defendant testified, without defense objection, that Defendant filed documents with the Lexington County Probate Court establishing an exact numerical value of the "trust" (\$468,587.06). Plaintiffs' witness clearly established that the Will in question provided for each Plaintiff to receive one-fourth (1/4) of the remaining corpus of the "trust". Plaintiffs' witness clearly established calculations, based on conservative historical performance of the stock market, demonstrating that the "trust" funds not distributed by Defendant would have accrued to at least Six Hundred Seven Thousand Six Hundred Eighty Dollars (\$607,680).

(R. p. 413.)

The court reviewed the motion and denied it. (R. pp. 1-7).

This appeal followed.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Judgment notwithstanding the verdict. “When reviewing the trial court’s ruling on a motion for a directed verdict or a JNOV, this [c]ourt must apply the same standard as the trial court by viewing the evidence and all reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party.” Road, LLC v. Beaufort Cnty., 433 S.C. 164, 174, 857 S.E.2d 371, 376 (Ct. App. 2021) (quoting RFT Mgmt. Co. v. Tinsley & Adams L.L.P., 399 S.C. 322, 331–32, 732 S.E.2d 166, 171 (2012)). The denial of such a motion is properly reversed where no evidence exists that sustains the factual findings implicit in the jury’s decision. Id. at 175.

New trial. The appellate court will not reverse a trial court’s denial of a motion for a new trial unless it is controlled by an error of law or is not supported by the evidence. Duncan v. Hampton Cnty. Sch. Dist. No. 2, 335 S.C. 535, 517 S.E.2d 449, 455 (Ct. App. 1999).

ARGUMENT

- I. **The trial court should have granted the motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict. The only damages evidence adduced at trial connected to David’s actions as personal representative – for which Elisa and Emily were not suing him – not to any reliance by them on a representation by David.**

The nine elements of fraud – the plaintiff’s only tried claim – are “(1) a representation; (2) its falsity; (3) its materiality; (4) the speaker’s knowledge of its falsity; (5) his intent that it should be acted upon by the person; (6) the hearer’s ignorance of its falsity; (7) his reliance on its truth; (8) his right to rely thereon; (9) and his consequent and proximate injury.” Mutual Savings and Loan Ass’n. v. McKenzie, 274 S.C. 630, 632, 266 S.E.2d 423 (1980).

Generally, the injured party in a fraud and deceit action is entitled to recover such damages as will compensate him for his pecuniary loss and place him in the same position he occupied before being defrauded. However, only damages which are the natural and proximate consequence of the fraudulent misrepresentations of the defendant and can be clearly defined and ascertained are recoverable.

Gilbert v. Mid-South Machinery Co., Inc., 267 S.C. 211, 223, 227 S.E.2d 189, 194 (1976) (internal citation omitted).

The trial court should have granted the directed verdict motion and erred reversibly in denying David's motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict. What was placed before the jury did not contain any damages caused by David saying something other than the truth – the truth being, in the light most favorable to Elisa and Emily, that David had not, in the administration of the estate, funded a trust that would have paid Elisa and Emily something.

If, under the only theory on which the plaintiffs proceeded at trial, David had told the truth, Elisa and Emily would simply have known earlier that they would not be receiving any money from the trust set up in the Testator's will – because that was the truth that they complained David kept from them. (R. p. 109 ln. 9 through p. 110 ln. 6, p. 113 ln. 13 through p. 114 ln. 7). Any misrepresentation of this by David did not cause Elisa and Emily not to be distributed their portion of estate assets they believed had been placed in a trust. The only thing that arguably caused *that* was a failure by David to perform his duties as personal representative in administering the estate.

A personal representative has a duty to settle and distribute the estate of the decedent in accordance with the terms of a probated and effective will and this code, and as expeditiously and efficiently as is consistent with the best interests of the estate. He shall use the authority conferred upon him by this code, the terms of the will, and any order in proceedings to which he is party for the best interests of successors to the estate.

S.C. Code Ann. § 62-3-703(a). Viewed in the light most favorable to Elisa and Emily, David's failure to do *that*, to perform his duty as personal representative, is what caused them to suffer any damages. See id. Emily's description of what the case was about – that David was supposed to divide up the estate but kept it all for himself – is telling. (R. p. 254 ln. 13-18.) The jury awarded damages consistent with *that* theory, not on the theory on which the case actually went to trial, and

consistent with Elisa's testimony of what she could have done with the money had it been properly distributed to her. (R. p. 8, p. 125 ln. 13 through p. 129 ln. 1.) No other evidence of damage was adduced. (R. pp. 52-343).

David making representations to the effect that the trust had been funded is not what caused Elisa and Emily not to get the money the jury's verdict is based on. (R. p. 8.) In other words, Elisa and Emily did not adduce evidence to the effect that they were damaged because there was a delay of some years in them coming to know that they were not going to receive a portion of assets that passed under the Testator's will. The "position [Elisa and Emily] occupied before being defrauded" was that of receiving nothing through the unfunded trust – exactly the position they were in once the misrepresentations were made. Gilbert, 267 S.C. at 223.

The reason that Elisa and Emily found themselves receiving nothing through the unfunded trust is because David arguably mismanaged the administration of the estate and distributed to himself assets to which they would have been entitled. Viewed in the light most favorable to Elisa and Emily, some damage was caused by David's failure to properly administer the estate. See S.C. Code Ann. § 62-3-703(a). Elisa and Emily's causes of action for that, though, had already been dismissed with prejudice, and, as they stated themselves, they did not go to trial against David on claims about that. (R. pp. 9-11, 17-18, p. 110 ln. 23 through p. 111 ln. 6, p. 114 ln. 20-22, p. 115 ln. 3-6, p. 155 ln. 5-13.)

There is no evidence of damages caused by the fraud the plaintiffs claimed the defendant committed. Evidence of a required element of fraud is lacking. Mutual Savings and Loan, 274 S.C. at 632. The jury's verdict is unsupported by evidence of damages proximately caused by the fraud – failing to tell the plaintiffs that the trust was unfunded – of which the plaintiffs complain; thus, the trial court should have granted the motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict.

Road, LLC, 433 S.C. at 175. No reasonable jury could have reached the verdict that the damages awarded here to Elisa and Emily were caused by the fraud on which they went to trial against him. See Gastineau v. Murphy, 331 S.C. 565, 503 S.E.2d 712 (1998) (standard for motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict).

This court should reverse the denial of David's motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict and enter such a judgment in David's favor.

II. The trial court's decision to deny the motion for a new trial is not supported by any evidence.

Alternatively, the court should reverse the denial of David's motion for a new trial absolute or for a new trial *nisi remittitur*, since that denial is not supported by any evidence of proximately caused damages, as noted above. See Mutual Savings and Loan, 274 S.C. at 632 (elements of fraud); Duncan, 517 S.E.2d at 455 (standard of review for denial of motion for new trial). The order denying the motion erroneously states that evidence supporting the verdict was adduced. (R. p. 3.) Further, even if the court sees what the undersigned does not and determines there is *some* evidence of damages, that evidence is nowhere near the \$500,000.00 in actual damages awarded by the jury and is, thus, motivated by considerations not found in the evidence and the charged law. This entitles David to a new trial absolute or, failing that, a new trial *nisi remittitur* even if this court does not reverse and enter judgment notwithstanding the verdict. See Krepps v. Ausen, 324 S.C. 597, 479 S.E.2d 290, 295-96 (Ct. App. 1996) (standards for new trial regarding excessive damages).

CONCLUSION