**RECEIVED**

**Apr 14 2022**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

---

Appellate Case No. 2020-001673

---

Elisa Montgomery Edwards and Emily Cecile Edwards, .....Respondents,

v.

David C. Bryan, III, ..... Appellant.

---

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

---

David E. Belding  
S.C. Bar No.: 000623  
Post Office Box 11964  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211  
(803) 665-3161  
beldinglawsc@gmail.com  
Attorney for Respondents

**

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

## **ARGUMENT**

### **I. The trial court properly denied Appellant’s post-trial motion for a directed verdict because Respondents adduced evidence of all nine (9) elements of Fraud at trial.**

Respondents argued, and the jury clearly found, that Appellant had fraudulently misrepresented to Respondent Elisa Edwards for years that he had the money from the “trust” in a Smith Barney account for the benefit of both Respondents.

The references at trial to documents filed in the “Estate” case were adduced: (a) to clearly show the total amount that Appellant claimed he had disbursed to “the Trust” in his 2010 Probate accounting; (b) to clearly show the amount each quarter (25%) of the “Trust” was in 2010; and, (c) to impeach the credibility of the Appellant at trial. The vast majority of the Respondent’s testimony regarded the numerous representations made by Appellant over a number of years that he had the money for Respondents in a Smith Barney account. The jury clearly believed Respondent Elisa Edwards testimony over that of the Appellant.

Respondents showed by clear and convincing evidence that Appellant’s actions constituted Fraud under South Carolina law in the following nine (9) particulars:

**a. Appellant made a representation to Respondent Elisa Edwards on multiple occasions that he was holding trust funds for her benefit and the benefit of Respondent Emily Edwards.**

Respondent Elisa Edwards testified:

“Q. Okay. Now, you testified earlier that it took until, I believe you said, November of 2011 for the estate to close of your grandfather; is that right?

A. Right.

Q. Over two and a half years?

A. Correct.

Q. Okay. Now, during those two and a half years, did you have other discussions with your uncle about the trust?

A. Yes, I did. I talked to -- right after my grandfather died, he had money in a Smith Barney account and lots of property, rental properties. And I talked with my uncle about the estate. And David told me he was going to leave the money in Smith Barney because in 2009 -- the economy tanked in 2009 and the stock market crashed. He wanted to leave the money in the Smith Barney account to try to build it back up and earn more money before he ever disbursed the account. I told him -- I said, that's a great idea. Nobody was in need of money right away. And so he was going to keep the money in the Smith Barney account and allow it to grow before he disbursed the funds." (Tr. pg. 58, ln. 9 - pg. 59 ln. 6).

Respondent Elisa Edwards further testified:

"Q: Approximately how many times would you say your uncle told you there was money in the trust?

A. Every time we had a family gathering, I would just say how's our money doing, just jokingly, and he'd say it's doing fine." (Transcript p. 69 ln. 23 - pg. 70 ln. 2).

Respondent Elisa Edwards further testified:

"Q. Okay. And I want to make sure I understand. You said your uncle led you to believe that the money was in the trust?

A. He led me to believe the money was always there, would always be there for us.

Q. To the best of your recollection, how would he have lead [sic] you to believe that?

A. He told me so. He told me that the money is growing in a trust. He told me once the house on Bruce Road sold, then he would have the money in the trust available for us.

say Q. Okay. Before December of 2015 -- and I understand that's when you he told you there wasn't anything.

A. Right.

Q. What was the most recent time before that that you had discussed the trust and getting a distribution?

A: There are several times throughout those years that I would just check in with him and -- to find out about the trust. And he said the money was growing and the money was there.

Q. Okay. Did he tell you where the money was?

A. It was in a Smith Barney account. (Transcript p. 62 ln. - p. 63 ln. 7).

**b. Appellant's representations were false.**

Appellant finally admitted to Respondent Elisa Edwards that he had not set up a “trust” nor invested any funds for her or Respondent Emily Edwards:

“Q. Okay. So after the estate closed in November of 2011, did you have other conversations with your uncle about the trust?

A. I did. I asked him when he was going to disburse the funds on the trust. And my mother kept asking him and I kept asking him. And finally, one day, he says, there is no money in the trust and nobody gets anything.

Q. There's no trust?

A. He said there was no money in the trust; no trust.” (Transcript pg. 60 ln. 7-17).

This Respondent also testified:

Q. Ultimately, did you find out those representations about the trust were false?

A. I did, yes.” (Transcript pg. 71 ln. 18-20).

**c. Appellant’s representations were material.**

Respondent Elisa Edwards testified:

“Q. Were his misrepresentations material? Did it matter?

A. It mattered to me. Yes.

Q. How did it matter?

A. Well, financially, that was money I was going to depend on, and also my daughter as well.” (Transcript pg. 71 ln. 21 – pg. 72 ln. 1).

This Respondent further testified:

“Q. How did your plans change when you found out that there was no money and that wasn't true?

A. Well, it made a big difference in where my daughter chose to go to school; it made a big difference in me in lots of ways. But, yes, primarily for my daughter, her choices in school.” (Transcript pg. 72 ln. 5–10).

**d. Appellant knew of the falsity of his representations.**

Respondent Elisa Edwards testified:

“Q. Okay. Do you believe, as we sit here today, that he knew that those were false representations?

A. Yes. They were all false representations.

Q. Do you believe your uncle intentionally lied to you about the trust?

A. Yes, I do.

Q. Why do you believe he lied?

A. He wanted to keep all the money for himself.” (Transcript pg. 72 ln. 17–24).

e. **Appellant intended for his representations to be acted upon by Respondents.**

Respondent Elisa Edwards testified:

“Q. Do you believe your uncle intended for you and your daughter to rely on those misrepresentations?

A. I think he did until, you know, I discovered the truth.

Q. Do you believe he was trying to hide the truth for a period of time?

A. I believe he was trying to hide the truth for a period of time, yes, I do.” (Transcript pg. 72 ln. 25 – pg. 73 ln. 7).

f. **Respondents were ignorant of the falsity of Appellant’s representations.**

Respondent Elisa Edwards testified:

“Q. When he was telling you about the trust during the four years to December of 2014, did you believe what he told you was true?

A. I did believe everything he said.

Q. Did you have any reason to think his representations were false?

A. No, I did not. He was my uncle and I trusted him.” (Transcript pg. 73 ln. 8-15).

g. **Respondents relied on the truth of Appellant’s representations.**

Respondent Elisa Edwards testified:

“Q. Okay. So after the estate closed in November of 2011, did you have other conversations with your uncle about the trust?

A. I did. I asked him when he was going to disburse the funds on the trust. And my mother kept asking him and I kept asking him. And finally, one day, he says, there is no money in the trust and nobody gets anything.

Q. There's no trust?

A. He said there was no money in the trust; no trust.

Q. Do you know approximately when that was that he finally told you that?

A. It was either in 2014, '15. And that prompted me to come down to the courthouse and pull all the documents because, as far as I knew and as far as I thought, the money was being held safely in the trust, growing, and would be disbursed whenever we were ready for the money.” (Transcript pg. 60 ln. 7-25);

**h. Respondents had a right to rely on Appellant’s representations.**

Respondent Elisa Edwards testified:

“Q. Did you have any reason to think his representations were false?

A. No, I did not. He was my uncle and I trusted him.

Q. Do you believe that your uncle had a duty to tell you the truth about that?

A. As personal representative, he did have a duty to tell me the truth.

Q. Do you believe he had a duty as your uncle?

A. He had a duty as my uncle, yes.

Q. Was your reliance upon what he said more because he was the personal representative or more because he was family?

A. More because he was family.” (Transcript pg. 73 ln. 12-25).

**i. Respondents were consequently and proximately damaged by Appellant’s false representations.**

Respondent Elisa Edwards testified:

“Q. All right. After you found out in December of 2015 that there was no trust and there was no money, what did you do?

A. I sent a letter to David [Appellant]. I tried to call him and texted him and said please give me an accounting of the trust. I sent him a letter and had no response from him whatsoever.

Q. Okay. What would you have done with a distribution from the trust? I would have probably invested the money. My portion, I would have invested.” (Tr. pg. 64 ln. 17 – pg. 65 ln. 2).

Respondent Elisa Edwards also testified as to the damages consequently and proximately caused by Appellant:

“Q. Okay. Now, have you been damaged by what you have stated under oath to be the misrepresentations by your uncle about the trust?

A. Well, financially, that was money that I planned on using for retirement. And I never received it and I will never receive it, I guess.” (Transcript pg. 74 ln. 13-18).

Respondent Elisa Edwards then testified that she calculated what each portion of the “trust” was at the time the Appellant stated its value in September 2020:

“Q. And I have just a little chart here I'll refer to myself. Did you get together these numbers?

A. I did.

Q. So if you take \$468,587 -- we'll forget about the six cents -- divide that by four, you calculated that that was \$117,146?

A. Correct.

Q. Okay. And that was the amount that Mr. Bryan said had been disbursed in 2010, correct?

A. Correct, into the trust. Yes.” (Transcript pg. 75 ln. 13-22).

This Respondent testified that she had calculated what Respondents had been deprived of as a consequence of Appellant’s misrepresentations and failure to disburse the proceeds of the “trust”:

“Q. Let me ask you this: You stated earlier that you had been keeping an eye on the stock market. From what you understand from information you receive, how has the stock market done in the last ten years?

A. In the last ten years -- my personal investments have done very well in the last ten years.

Q. Have they gone up an average amount every year?

A. I've got some aggressive investments that have done, like, 20 percent over the past ten years. But anywhere between 10 and 20 percent; they've done very well.

Q. Would you have any reason to think the Smith Barney stock account wouldn't do as well?

A. No.

Q. Okay. Did you yourself sit down and calculate taking a share and having it appreciate by ten percent every year for the last ten years?

A. Yes, I did.

Q. What would each share be worth if that had occurred? If it had been in there accruing at just ten percent, what would that be worth today?

A. If I took \$117,000 and compound interest at ten percent, it would be worth a little over \$300,000 today.

Q. Okay. And we're talking about two shares, aren't we?  
A. Right; my share and my daughter's share.  
Q. So if we had it till today, what would both of your shares approximately be worth?  
A. Both shares would be a little over \$600,000.  
Q. And you don't have that money, do you?  
A. No, sir, I do not.” (Transcript pg. 76 ln. 9–24).

All nine (9) required elements of Fraud were brought before the jury by sworn testimony. At the end of Respondents’ case in chief, outside the presence of the jury, counsel argued Appellant’s motion for directed verdict as to Negligent Misrepresentation. The following exchange took place on the record:

All of the “MR. HEMLEPP [Appellant’s trial counsel]: Your Honor, I would move for a directed verdict on the negligent entrustment testimony –  
THE COURT: You mean –  
MR. HEMLEPP: I mean negligent misrepresentation. All of the testimony from the plaintiff was that the defendant knew he was telling the truth; that this was an unintentional act; that there was no negligence about it. The defendant denies making the statement at all. I don't think there's any evidence of negligence.  
THE COURT: Well –  
MR. BELDING [Respondents’ trial counsel]: Your Honor, I'd leave it up to the Court. But [to opposing counsel] are you going to make a directed verdict motion on fraud, too?  
MR. HEMLEPP: Actually, I'm not.  
MR. BELDING: Okay.  
MR. HEMLEPP: I'm –  
MR. BELDING: You know what? I'm happy to let this go. I'll elect my remedy.  
THE COURT: That's what it -- it sounds like –  
MR. BELDING: I'll elect my remedy and go with fraud.  
MR. HEMLEPP: Well, I think they did.  
THE COURT: Well, I think the testimony I heard certainly –  
MR. BELDING: Supported the fraud allegation.

THE COURT: **Or you at least provided enough evidence for the elements.** [Emphasis added].  
MR. BELDING: Right. Okay.  
MR. HEMLEPP: Correct.

THE COURT: What the jury will decide is not -- and it sounds to me like you'll stipulate and you'll go forward on fraud and not negligent misrepresentation.

MR. BELDING: I so stipulate on behalf of the plaintiffs, Your Honor.

THE COURT: All right. Does that make sense to you then? All right." (Transcript pg. 176 ln. 19 - pg. 177 ln. 11).

The trial judge stated on the record that the Respondents would proceed only on the Fraud cause of action and that the Respondents had "provided enough evidence for the elements." Defense counsel made no contemporaneous objection to the Court's finding that the elements of Fraud had been adduced.

After returning from lunch recess, Appellant's trial counsel made the following motion:

"MR. HEMLEPP: Your Honor, the defense would move for directed verdict on the cause of action for fraud in this case. There's been a failure of evidence by the plaintiff to put forth to -- for the jury to the standard of clear and convincing that a fraud occurred. It was denied by the defendant. I'd move for a directed verdict.

THE COURT: Okay.

MR. BELDING: Thank you, Your Honor. May it please the Court? I very carefully went through every element of fraud that is required by the State of South Carolina. In the plaintiff, Ms. Elisa Edwards', testimony as to representation, falsity, reliance, materiality, everything was in there and she answered it all. And I would say that it's a jury question for them to take up.

THE COURT: Okay. Well, based on where we are now, we can -- you want me to hold the ruling in abeyance?

MR. HEMLEPP: Yeah. (Transcript pg. 179 ln. 17 - pg. 180 ln. 12).

At the close of all the evidence, the trial judge asked for any motions, and the following exchange took place on the record:

"THE COURT: Okay. Any motions?

MR. HEMLEPP: Yes, Your Honor. I would renew my motion that I made prior to us reconvening for the Court.

THE COURT: All right. Your motion -- and you assert your previous grounds. I'll deny the motion." (Transcript pg. 220 ln. 22 - pg. 221 ln. 2).

In Mutual Savings and Loan Ass'n. v. McKenzie, 274 S.C. 630,632, 266 S.E. 2d 423 (1980), the S.C. Supreme Court stated: "Generally, the injured party in a fraud and deceit action is entitled to recover such damages as will compensate him for his pecuniary loss and place him in the same position he occupied before being defrauded. However, only damages which are the natural and proximate consequence of the fraudulent misrepresentations of the defendant and can be clearly defined and ascertained are recoverable." Gilbert v. Mid-South Machinery Co., Inc., 267 S.C. 211, 223, 227 S.E. 2d 189, 194 (1976) (internal citation omitted).

The only grounds Appellant's trial counsel put forth in support of a motion for directed verdict was that he didn't think the Respondent's evidence was "clear and convincing" and that the evidence was "...denied by the defendant" [Appellant]. Motions for directed verdict must be based on specific grounds. That the testimony from the parties may conflict is not a proper ground for this motion. RFT Mgmt. Co. v. Tinsley & Adams, L.L.P., 399 S.C. 322, 331, 732 S.E. 2d 166, 171 (2012). The trial court may grant this motion when the case presents only issues of law. Id. at 170. The grounds stated do not show that the trial judge's decision to deny the motion was "wholly unsupported by the evidence or the conclusions reached are controlled by error of law".

**II. The trial court properly denied Respondent's motions for a new trial because the decision was supported by evidence adduced at trial.**

The trial court's decision to deny both of Appellant's post-trial motions - for new trial absolute and/or new trial *nisi remittitur* - were each supported by evidence adduced at trial.

Appellant submits in its *Initial Brief* that the "...jury gave Respondents a verdict on a theory or theories they expressly were not pursuing or which had been dismissed with prejudice." This is just factually incorrect. It is clear in the *Trial Transcript* that the Respondents elected to go to the jury on a single cause of action – fraud. The trial court denied Appellant’s post-trial motion for a new trial because it found that the Appellants had adduced evidence at trial that addressed the required elements of fraud.

Appellant also submits in its *Initial Brief* that the trial court erred in failing to grant its motion for a new trial because "...the record is susceptible only of a reading that the jury gave Respondents a verdict for damages that could only flow from acts for which Respondents expressly were not suing Appellant." This is also factually incorrect. Again, it is clear that the Respondents elected to go to the jury on the single cause of action for fraud. Respondent Elisa Edwards testified in detail about the Appellant’s misrepresentations over a number of years about the "trust." Respondents asserted that Appellant had committed fraud and the jury returned a verdict for fraud. The trial court denied Appellant’s post-trial motion for a new trial because it found that the Appellants had adduced evidence at trial that addressed the required elements of fraud, a cause of action it sued Appellant for in the *Complaint* and by express election at trial, without objection.

Additionally, Appellant argues that "[t]here is no evidence of damages caused by the fraud plaintiffs claimed the defendant committed." Respondent Elisa Edwards testified in detail about: (a) what the amount of money in the "trust" was in September 2020; (b) the exact amount of money (distribution) each of the Respondents would have received in 2020 if it had been distributed in the manner Appellant told the Probate Court he had already done; (c) that she

would have invested the distribution as Appellant told her he had done; and, (d) what the current value of the invested money would have been at the date of trial according to her investment experience. (Transcript pg. 75 ln. 7-22 – pg. 77 ln. 7-24). She also testified that, due to Appellant's fraudulent misrepresentations, Respondents were never given the money Appellant claimed he had invested for them with Smith Barney.

The Respondents' evidence was clear and convincing that the total Respondents' invested funds, denied to them by Appellant, would have been worth Six Hundred Thousand Dollars (\$600,000.00) at a "lowball" rate of interest. The jury found actual damages of Five Hundred Thousand Dollars (\$500,000.00), well under the sworn testimony adduced at trial.

On appellate review of an action at law tried by a jury, the jury's findings of fact will not be disturbed unless the reviewing tribunal determines that no evidence in the record supports the jury's conclusion. Townes Associates Limited v. City of Greenville, 266 S.C. 81, 221 S.E.2d 773 (1976). "Compelling reasons' must be given to justify the trial court invading the jury's province in this manner." Riley v. Ford Motor Co., 414 S.C. 185, 193, 777 S.E.2d 824, 829 (2015) (quoting Bailey v. Peacock, 318 S.C. 13, 14, 455 S.E.2d 690, 691(1995)). "The trial judge, who heard the evidence and is more familiar with the evidentiary atmosphere at trial, possesses a better informed view of the damages than this court." Hawkins v. Greenwood Dev. Corp., 328 S.C. 585, 600, 493 S.E.2d 875, 883 (Ct. App. 1997). "Accordingly, great deference is given to the trial judge." Vinson v. Hartley, 324 S.C. 389, 406, 477 S.E.2d 715, 723 (Ct. App. 1996).

In addition, the trial court properly charged the jury about Respondents' burden of proof (Transcript pg. 247 ln. 5–23; pg. 248 ln. 12-22). The trial court also properly charged the jury about the required elements of fraud (Transcript pg. 248 ln. 12 – pg. 250 ln. 23). The trial court

also properly charged the jury about the measure of damages for fraud (Tr. pg. 250 ln. 24 – pg. 251 ln. 12), as well as the standard for an award of punitive damages for fraud (Transcript pg. 251 ln. 13 – pg. 252 ln. 12). Finally, the trial court properly charged the jury that it was the sole and exclusive judge of the facts and that it was their job to determine the credibility or believability of the witnesses that had testified in the case. (Transcript pg. 245 ln. 14 – pg. 246 ln. 5). Therefore, this Court should affirm the denial of Appellant’s motions.

**CONCLUSION**

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